Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

4-16-2014

Dunlap v. State Appellant's Brief Dckt. 41105

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case

This is a successive, capital post-conviction case raising claims of ineffective assistance of appellate counsel based upon federal constitutional claims that were omitted from Dunlap's consolidated appeal. Also included are the federal constitutional claims as independent claims. Dunlap appeals the district court (hereinafter referred to as the "PCR court") decision denying relief.

B. Course of the Proceedings

The relevant proceedings prior to this action include Dunlap's 2006 resentencing proceeding's direct appeal. A jury sentenced Dunlap to death on February 22, 2006. The State Appellate Public Defender's Office ("SAPD") substituted as counsel of record. Pursuant to Idaho's Special Proceedings in Capital Cases, the direct appeal was stayed until completion of the post-conviction relief action. Summary dismissal of the petition was granted in the state's favor on November 24, 2009. R. 12. In a consolidated appeal, Dunlap challenged both the judgment, conviction and the summary dismissal of his claims for post-conviction relief. The opening brief was lodged with this Court on February 25, 2011, and was subsequently accepted and filed on March 22, 2011. R. 936-1048. On April 7, 2011, the underlying petition in this action alleging ineffective assistance of appellate counsel was filed. R. 10-53. The State filed its motion for summary dismissal on May 21, 2012. R. 1291-1366. The State conceded that the petition was timely filed as to the appellate IAC claims, but argued that the petition was untimely as to the underlying substantive claims. R. 1301, 1304-05. The PCR court agreed with the State, finding the appellate IAC claims timely, but the underlying substantive claims untimely. R. 2262, 2265-66. The petition was summarily dismissed on May 8, 2013. R. 2255-2337. The

final judgment was entered on May 13, 2013. R. 2338. Dunlap timely appealed on June 10, 2013. R. 2340.

C. Concise Statement of the Facts

The Appellate IAC claims are based upon the trial record. Many of the claims challenge appellate counsel's failure to raise legal challenges to instructions or the application of statutes in Dunlap's case. One claim raises a three-part challenge to the capital *voir dire*. The relevant facts are set out below.

The selection process began with a written questionnaire. Each potential juror completed the questionnaire prior to the *voir dire* proceeding.¹ Numerous questions asked the jurors about opinions on the propriety of the death penalty. *See, e.g.*, R.1909-16.

The selection process then moved to a general *voir dire* that lasted less than four hours.

R. 1605, 1734. Individual *voir dire* then began, but was limited by the resentencing court to five minutes per side with each juror. *Dunlap v. State*, 313 P.3d at 20 ("*Dunlap V*"), #32773, Tr. Vol. 02, Jury V02². The jury was picked in a little over a day and a half, with about 6 and one half hours of individual *voir dire*.³ Pertinent responses of individual venire persons are discussed in the relevant issue on appeal.

¹ The questionnaires from jurors who sat on Dunlap's jury or questionnaires that are otherwise relevant to this appeal are in Questionnaire Vol. 6, and were attached as Exhibit 2 to the Amended Petition for Post-conviction Relief. R. 1814-2148.

² The PCR court granted the petitioner's motion to take judicial notice of the prior proceedings. R. 1053-54. A separate Motion to Take Judicial Notice is filed with this Court contemporaneously with the filing of this Brief.

³ General *voir dire* and *voir dire* of the individual jurors who are relevant to this appeal are contained in the *voir dire* transcripts and were attached for the court's convenience as Exhibit 1 to the Amended Petition for Post-conviction Relief. R. 1602-1813.

II. ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

- A. Whether each underlying substantive claim that is the subject of each ineffective assistance on appeal claim may be considered on the merits?
- B. Whether Dunlap was denied federal constitutional rights when appellate counsel omitted violations of the Fourteenth Amendment Due Process Clause and the Sixth Amendment rights to an impartial jury and effective assistance of counsel, that: (1) the resentencing court erroneously applied *Witherspoon v. Illinois* and improperly excluded a juror for cause; (2) the resentencing court failed to exclude numerous jurors who were substantially impaired under *Morgan v. Illinois*; and (3) trial counsel was ineffective, under *Strickland v. Washington*, in conducting *voir dire* resulting in a biased jury composed of substantially impaired jurors and an improper exclusion for cause of a qualified juror?
 - C. Whether the preliminary jury instructions unconstitutionally restricted voir dire?
- D. Whether the propensity instruction given to the jury was vague and ambiguous under the Eighth Amendment and also resulted in a violation of The Due Process Clause?
- E. Whether the weighing instruction and verdict form lessened the State's burden of proof in violation of federal Ex-Post Facto and Due Process protections?

III. STANDARD FOR REVIEW

A. Procedural Review

A post-conviction action is a special proceeding, civil in nature. *State v. Bearshield*, 104 Idaho 676, 678 (1983), *Pizzuto v. State*, 146 Idaho 720, 724 (2008). The petitioner has the burden of proving the allegations in the petition by a preponderance of the evidence. *Stuart v. State*, 118 Idaho 865, 869 (1990).

When considering summary dismissal, "dismissal is permissible only when the applicant's evidence has raised no genuine issue of material fact that, if resolved in the applicant's favor, would entitle the applicant to the relief requested." *State v. Payne*, 146 Idaho 548, 561 (2008). This Court exercises free review over questions of law. *Rhoades v. State*, 148 Idaho 247, 250 (2009).

B. Appellate Ineffective Assistance of Counsel

The governing law on the right to counsel on appeal is well established. Under the Fourteenth Amendment of the United States Constitution, criminal defendants have a right to counsel on appeal. *Evitts v. Lucey*, 469 U.S. 387, 388 (1985). "A defendant is constitutionally entitled to the effective assistance of counsel on a direct appeal as of right." *Mitchell v. State*, 132 Idaho 274, 277 (1998) (citing *Evitts v. Lucey*, 469 U.S. at 394).

The *Strickland v. Washington* standard is the proper standard for evaluating appellate ineffective assistance claims. *Smith v. Robbins*, 528 U.S. 259, 285 (2000). An ineffective appellate counsel claim requires proof of deficient performance and prejudice. *Id.* at 285-86, *Mitchell*, 132 Idaho at 277. Counsel's performance must fall below an objective standard of reasonableness sufficient to show a "reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, the result would have been different." *Mitchell*, 132 Idaho at 277 (citing *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687-88, 694 (1984)).

Appellate counsel can provide ineffective assistance under the *Strickland* standard when counsel omits a particular claim. Ineffective assistance of appellate counsel exists when "ignored issues are clearly stronger than those presented." *Smith v. Robbins*, 528 U.S. at 288 (quoting *Gray v. Greer*, 800 F.2d 644, 646 (7th Cir. 1985)). Other courts, in applying *Strickland*

to this type of claim, look to the strength of the omitted claim rather than reviewing counsel's performance on the presented claims.

One of the first appellate courts to apply the "firmly established" right to appellate counsel was the United States Court of Appeals for the Seventh Circuit. The circuit applied the two-prong analysis of *Strickland* to a claim that appellate counsel omitted issues on appeal. *Gray*, 800 F.2d at 646. The circuit recognized that a reviewing court should evaluate appellate counsel's choice of issues on appeal, not simply review the issues presented. *Id*.

Had appellate counsel failed to raise a significant and obvious issue, the failure could be viewed as deficient performance. If an issue which was not raised may have resulted in a reversal of the conviction, or an order for a new trial, the failure was prejudicial. Were it legitimate to dismiss a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel on appeal solely because we found it improper to review appellate counsel's choice of issues, the right to effective assistance of counsel on appeal would be worthless.

Id.

Giving further guidance, the court stated that a reviewing court must determine whether "appellate counsel failed to present significant and obvious issues on appeal. Significant issues which could have been raised should then be compared to those which were raised. Generally, only when ignored issues are clearly stronger than those presented, will the presumption of effective assistance of counsel be overcome." *Gray*, 800 F.2d at 646. *See also Page v. United States*, 884 F.2d 300, 302 (7th Cir. 1989) ("counsel could be constitutionally deficient in omitting a dead-bang winner even while zealously pressing other strong (but unsuccessful) claims.").

This application of *Strickland* – examining the merits of the omitted claim – has been adopted in other circuits. *Banks v. Reynolds*, 54 F.3d 1508, 1515 (10th Cir. 1995). The Tenth Circuit has also held that "an appellate advocate may deliver deficient performance and prejudice

a defendant by omitting a 'dead-bang winner,' even though counsel may have presented strong but unsuccessful claims on appeal." *United States v. Cook*, 45 F.3d 388, 395 (10th Cir. 1995) (citing *Page*, 884 F.2d at 302). While not precisely defined, "the phrase 'dead-bang winner' ... is an issue which is obvious from the trial record and one which probably would have resulted in a reversal on appeal." *Banks v. Reynolds*, 54 F.3d at 1515, n. 13 (citing *Cook*, 45 F.3d at 395). Meritorious claims are not "amenable to being winnowed out of an otherwise strong brief." *Banks*, 54 F.3d at 1515. Failing to raise such claims constitutes ineffective assistance on appeal. *Id*.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. The Underlying Substantive Claims Were Erroneously Dismissed Under § 19-2719

In asserting claims of ineffective assistance of appellate counsel for not raising various issues, Dunlap also raised an underlying substantive issue for each appellate IAC claim. R. 1562. The PCR court found that the underlying substantive issues were waived under I.C. § 19-2719, because they should have been raised in the direct appeal or the first post-conviction petition immediately following the re-sentencing proceeding. R. 2260.

Dunlap acknowledges that these claims could have been raised in the direct appeal, and that any failure to raise them therein may operate to waive the claims under § 19-2719(5). The only basis or excuse that Dunlap asserts for raising them in the successive petition in this case is that appellate counsel was limited on appeal by the page limits imposed by this Court. Dunlap argues that in a consolidated appeal of the re-sentencing and denial of post-conviction relief in the capital case of first impression for jury sentencing in Idaho, that the imposition of a 100 page limit violated due process under the Fourteenth Amendment and precluded appellate counsel from raising the substantive issues and exhausting them for federal habeas corpus review. U.S.

Const. amend. XIV. *See O'Sullivan v. Boerckel*, 526 U.S. 838 (1999) (for federal habeas review, claims must be presented to the state supreme court). This Court's page limit for the consolidated appeal of the criminal judgment and the post-conviction relief action impeded Dunlap's ability to pursue all issues in the state courts. Given the preclusive effect of that limitation on Dunlap's ability to appeal all meritorious issues and later seek federal habeas corpus relief on the omitted claims, this Court's page limitation in the consolidated appeal operated to deny effective counsel on appeal and, as to the omitted claims, constituted an independent federal due process violation. U.S. Const. amends. VI and XIV.

B. Appellate Counsel Omitted Meritorious Issues Addressing Violations of the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments As a Result of Errors by the Court and Counsel During *Voir Dire*

1. Governing Law on Juror Impairment

"It is well settled that the Fifth and Sixth Amendments guarantee a defendant on trial for his life the right to an impartial jury." *Ross v. Oklahoma*, 487 U.S. 81, 85 (1988); *Irvin v. Dowd*, 366 U.S. 717, 722 (1961). Impartiality means "a fair trial by a panel of impartial, 'indifferent' jurors", *Irvin v. Dowd*, 366 U.S. at 722, that is, a jury comprised of "nothing more than 'jurors who will conscientiously apply the law and find the facts." *Lockhart v. McCree*, 476 U.S. 162, 178 (1986). The right to an impartial jury entitles a criminal defendant to "a verdict of conviction or acquittal ... given in accordance with the law by persons who are fair." *Powers v. Ohio*, 499 U.S. 400, 413 (1991). "Due process means a jury capable and willing to decide the case solely on the evidence before it." *Smith v. Phillips*, 455 U.S. 209, 217 (1982).

"[T]he decision whether a man deserves to live or die must be made on scales that are not deliberately tipped toward death." *Witherspoon v. Illinois*, 391 U.S. 510, 523 n.20 (1968).

Accordingly, in capital cases, the Sixth Amendment right to an impartial jury is violated

whenever a jury is empaneled that is "uncommonly willing to condemn a man to die." *Id.* at 521. An improper, death-prone jury exists when jurors who can conscientiously find the facts and make the statutorily mandated choice between life and death are erroneously excluded because of initially expressed reluctance to impose the death penalty. Such a jury also exists when jurors are permitted to serve despite pro-death biases that substantially impair their ability to consider mitigating evidence or impose a life sentence.

Critical to the guarantee of the right to an impartial jury "is an adequate *voir dire* to identify unqualified jurors." *Morgan v. Illinois*, 504 U.S. 719, 729 (1992); *Dennis v. United States*, 339 U.S. 162, 171-72 (1950); *Morford v. United States*, 339 U.S. 258, 259 (1950). *Voir dire* "plays a critical function" in protecting this right because "[w]ithout an adequate *voir dire* the trial judge's responsibility to remove prospective jurors who will not be able impartially to follow the court's instructions and evaluate the evidence cannot be fulfilled." *Rosales-Lopez v. United States*, 451 U.S. 182, 188 (1981) (White, J., plurality opinion), *quoted in Morgan*, 504 U.S. at 730-31.

It has long been established that jurors should be excused for cause if they harbor a bias towards death that impairs their ability to follow the law in capital sentencing proceedings. As early as 1919, the Supreme Court stated that jurors who would automatically impose a death sentence because they "were in favor of nothing less than capital punishment in cases of conviction for murder in the first degree" were unqualified to serve in a capital case and a challenge for cause should have been sustained. *Stroud v. United States*, 251 U.S. 15, 20-21 (1919).

A half-century later, the Court noted this point again in *Witherspoon*. *Witherspoon*'s principal holding was that the exclusion of potential jurors based solely on generalized

opposition to capital punishment violated the Sixth Amendment. But, the Court recognized that a juror's views on the death penalty, whether for or against, were relevant to his qualification to serve. The Court concluded that permitting "a juror who felt it his 'duty' to sentence every convicted murderer to death ... to serve ... 'while those who admitted to scruples against capital punishment were dismissed without further interrogation'" was a "double standard' [that] 'inevitably resulted in [the] denial of due process.'" *Witherspoon*, 391 U.S. at 522 n.20 (quoting *Crawford v. Bounds*, 395 F.2d 297, 303-04 (4th Cir. 1968) and citing *Stroud*).

In the 1980s, the Court decided three more cases making clear that questions of life-qualification presented nothing new, unequivocally holding that jurors who would automatically impose a death sentence must be excused for cause; that death-qualification and life-qualification are part of the same inquiry; and that the inquiry into both of these forms of exclusions for juror bias in capital sentencing are a subset of the general rule of law that governs exclusions for juror bias in every other setting. *Adams v. Texas*, 448 U.S. 38 (1980); *Wainwright v. Witt*, 469 U.S. 412 (1984); *Ross v. Oklahoma*, 487 U.S. 81 (1988).

The Court granted certiorari in *Adams v. Texas* to answer the question of "whether Texas contravened the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments as construed and applied in *Witherspoon* ... when it excluded members of the venire from jury service because they were unable to take an oath that the mandatory penalty of death or imprisonment for life would not 'affect [their] deliberations on any issue of fact." *Adams*, 448 U.S. at 40 (internal citation omitted). The Court held that the Texas statute was inconsistent with its holding in *Witherspoon* and struck down the statute.

Adams recognized that a potential juror's inability to return a verdict of *life* as well as the inability to return a verdict of death were equally relevant considerations. The Court recognized

that while it was likely fewer jurors would automatically impose death than those who could never impose death, jurors who were biased towards death would nevertheless be subject to a defense challenge for cause. *Adams*, 448 U.S. at 49.

In *Wainwright v. Witt*, the Court expressly reaffirmed the legal standard announced in *Adams*. The Court held that "the proper standard for determining when a prospective juror may be excluded for cause because of his or her views on capital punishment ... is whether the juror's views would 'prevent or substantially impair *the performance of his duties as a juror in accordance with his instructions and his oath.*" *Wainwright*, 469 U.S. at 424 (emphasis added) (quoting *Adams*, U.S. 448 at 45). Because there was "nothing talismanic" about juror exclusion simply because a case involved capital sentencing, and the *Adams* standard employed the "traditional reasons" for determining juror bias, *id.* at 423, a juror who could not vote for life, just as a juror who could not vote for death, would be excused for cause because "the juror's views 'would prevent or substantially impair the performance of his duties as a juror in accordance with his instructions and his oath." *Id.* at 424.

In 1988, Chief Justice Rehnquist, citing *Witherspoon*, held that a juror who would not consider a life sentence was unqualified to serve in a capital case. *Ross v. Oklahoma*, 487 U.S. 81 (1988). In *Ross*, a potential juror stated during *voir dire* that if the jury found the defendant guilty, "he would vote to impose death automatically." *Id.* at 83-84. The trial court denied a defense challenge for cause. Defense counsel had peremptory strikes remaining and used one to challenge the juror. The *Ross* Court specifically held that automatically voting for death – just as automatically voting for life – would "prevent or substantially impair the performance of his duties as a juror," and thus the trial court erred in denying the challenge for cause. *Id.* at 85. The availability and use of a peremptory challenge by the defense, however, rendered the error

harmless. The Court unequivocally stated: "Had [the challenged juror] sat on the jury that ultimately sentenced petitioner to death, and had petitioner properly preserved his right to challenge the trial court's failure to remove [the juror] for cause, the sentence would have to be overturned." *Id.* (citing *Adams*). Not only did the *Ross* Court affirm the validity of lifequalifying questions, it also recognized that the *Adams* standard – which the Court had stated in 1984 governed "any situation where a party seeks to exclude a biased juror," *Witt*, 469 U.S. at 423 (emphasis added) – compelled its holding. *Ross*, 487 U.S. at 85-86.

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