Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

7-23-2014

Dunlap v. State Respondent's Brief Dckt. 41105

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

Because Dunlap has failed to establish trial counsel were ineffective, his appellate counsel claim fails, not only because it is not "obvious from the record" the claim would succeed on appeal, but the SAPD made tactical decisions to raise more viable claims than the voir dire claims Dunlap presented in his successive petition and now on appeal.

E. <u>SAPD's Failure To Appeal Jury Instructions</u>

1. <u>Introduction</u>

In Dunlap's consolidated appeal, the SAPD raised four claims regarding jury instructions (#41105, R., pp.958-966), which this Court rejected under the capital fundamental error doctrine. <u>Dunlap V</u>, 313 P.3d at 20-21. Dunlap now contends the SAPD was ineffective on appeal for failing to challenge three additional jury instructions. (Brief, pp.43-53.) However, like the four claims raised in the consolidated appeal, the

SAPD was not ineffective on appeal regarding the three new sub-claims because there was no objection below and they would have failed on appeal under Idaho's capital fundamental error doctrine. Because Dunlap has failed to overcome the presumption the SAPD winnowed out each of these sub-claims and failed to establish they would have changed the outcome of his appeal, each fails.

2. Fundamental Error And Standards Of Law Regarding Jury Instructions

Fundamental error as defined in <u>State v. Perry</u>, 150 P.3d 209, 245 P.3d 961, 980 (2010), has been applied when the defendant fails to object to jury instructions. <u>State v. Grove</u>, 151 Idaho 483, 493, 259 P.3d 629 (Ct. App. 2011). Likewise, the fundamental error doctrine has been applied in capital cases, <u>Dunlap V</u>, 313 P.3d at 210-21, which requires Dunlap to establish the existence of an error that was not harmless, id. at 19.

An erroneous instruction rises to the level of a constitutional violation only where "there is a reasonable likelihood that the jury has applied the challenged instruction in a way that violates the Constitution." Jones v. United States, 527 U.S. 373, 390 (1999) (internal quotes and citation omitted). An instruction that reduces the state's burden of proof, for example, violates the right to a jury trial, because such an error would "vitiate[] all the jury's factual findings." Sullivan v. Louisiana, 508 U.S. 275, 281 (1993). Likewise, removing from the jury a decision on elements of the crime can implicate the constitutional right to a jury. Morissette v. United States, 342 U.S. 246, 275 (1952). However, instructions must be reviewed "as a whole, not individually, to determine whether the jury was properly and adequately instructed." State v. Shackelford, 150 Idaho 355, 247 P.3d 582, 373-74 (2010). "In evaluating the instructions, we do not engage in a technical parsing of [the] language of the instructions, but instead approach

the instructions in the same way that the jury would – with a commonsense understanding of the instructions in the light of all that has taken place at the trial." <u>Johnson v. Texas</u>, 509 U.S. 350, 367 (1993) (quotes and citation omitted).

3. Failing To Appeal Preliminary Instruction P-3

Dunlap contends Preliminary Instruction P-3, ¶ 16, violated his right to due process because it "overly emphasized the need to exclude jurors who were inclined toward rendering a life verdict unless they could follow the law as given in the instructions" while it "ignored the same requirement that jurors who are inclined to render a death verdict had to follow the law as given," which, "in combination with the limited time for voir dire to explore individual views on the death penalty, led to the seating of jurors who were substantially impaired in their ability to follow the instructions." (Brief, p.43.) Because this Court has already affirmed the district court's limitations on voir dire, <u>Dunlap V</u>, 313 P.3d at 19-20, and because Dunlap's claim is expressly tied to that limitation, his claim fails. However, even in isolation, the claim regarding this instruction fails.⁶

After the district court completed its questioning of the veniremen (#41105, R., 1613-72), the court instructed the jury as follows:

Because your verdict could lead to imposition of the death penalty, your attitude toward the death penalty is a proper subject of inquiry by the Court and the attorney[s]. The fact that you may have reservations about or conscientious or religious objections to capital punishment, does not automatically disqualify you as a juror in a capital case. Of primary importance is whether you can subordinate your personal philosophy to your duty to abide by your oath as a juror and follow the law I give to you. If you are willing to render a verdict that speaks the truth as you find it to

⁶ To the extent Dunlap's claim is premised upon <u>Witherspoon</u> and its progeny, in the previous section the state has addressed why there are no such violations.

exist, even though such verdict may lead to the imposition of the death penalty, you are qualified to serve as a juror in this case. If[,] however, you possess such strong opinions regarding capital punishment, no matter what the opinions may be, that you would be prevented or substantially impaired in the performance of your duties as a juror, you are not qualified to serve as a juror.

It is up to each of you, using the standard described[,] to search your conscience to determine whether you are in a position to follow the law as I give it to you and render a verdict as the evidence warrants. Only by your candor can either the accused or the State of Idaho be assured of having this extremely serious case resolved by a fair and impartial juror.

You will be asked questions by the Court and counsel in private regarding the death penalty and other issues.

(Id., pp.1672-73.)

Dunlap's claim regarding this "instruction" misses the mark. The district court expressly stated the "primary importance is whether you can subordinate your personal philosophy to your duty to abide by your oath as a juror and follow the law I give to you." (Id., p.1672.) The court further explained, "If, however, you possess such strong opinions regarding capital punishment, no matter what those opinions may be, that you would be prevented from or substantially impaired in the performance of your duties as a juror, you are not qualified to serve as a juror." (Id., pp.1672-73) (emphasis added). The court was not inquiring or even focusing upon the need to exclude veniremen "inclined toward rendering a life verdict unless they could follow the law" (Brief, p.43), but was concerned with any "strong opinions regarding capital punishment" that would result in a venireman being "prevented from or substantially impaired in the performance of [their] duties as a juror."

Moreover, Dunlap completely ignores the written questionnaire completed by each venireman that asked multiple questions about their respective views regarding the death penalty (e.g., #41105, R., pp.1814-41), including the following:

Under Idaho law, the jury has to decide whether to impose the death penalty. Persons convicted of First Degree Murder *cannot* automatically be given the death penalty. Before the jury could impose the death penalty, there will be a hearing on the appropriate penalty, and the jury would have to find that the death penalty was appropriate under the guidelines set by Idaho law. Evidence will be presented regarding the appropriate penalty.

(Id., p.18) (emphasis in original). The veniremen were also asked, "Do you feel that your views on the death penalty would prevent or substantially impair your ability to view the facts impartially" and to explain "why." (Id.)

Even if Preliminary Instruction P-3, ¶ 16 did not adequately address the issue Dunlap is raising, when bolstered by the questionnaire and the questions of the respective attorneys during individual voir dire, he has failed to establish a Witherspoon or Morgan violation that should have been raised on appeal. Rather, he has "parsed" the language of the instruction and failed to view the instructions as a whole as required to establish instructional error, which not only demolishes the merits of his claim, but makes it virtually impossible for him to establish the error was not harmless. More importantly, he has failed to overcome the presumption that the SAPD made a tactical decision to not raise this issue for the first time on appeal. Dunlap implicitly concedes he raised a voir dire claim on appeal before the Idaho Supreme Court, but then contends, "Attacking Preliminary Instruction P-3 would have strengthened appellate counsel's claim regarding the inadequacies of individual voir dire." (Brief, p.46.) However, he fails to explain how such an attack would have strengthened the voir dire claim actually raised on appeal.

Dunlap's argument is nothing more than second-guessing the SAPD's arguments on appeal, which is not permitted under any kind of ineffective assistance of counsel claim, let alone ineffective assistance of appellate counsel. Merely because Dunlap's current successive post-conviction attorneys would have raised a different voir dire claim or argued the claim that was raised differently, does not establish the SAPD was ineffective on appeal. Dunlap has completely failed to establish prejudice.

4. Failing To Appeal The Propensity Instruction

Despite conceding this Court has previously approved the narrowing language for the propensity aggravator, Dunlap contends he "raises this issue to preserve it for review" and that the SAPD was ineffective for not raising it on direct appeal because the phrase, "less than the normal amount of provocation," is allegedly "undefined, ambiguous and confusing." (Brief, pp.46-47.) Not only has Dunlap failed to establish the SAPD's performance was deficient, he has failed to establish prejudice.

The propensity aggravator reads, "The defendant, by prior conduct or conduct in the commission of the murder at hand, has exhibited a propensity to commit murder which will probably constitute a continuing threat to society." I.C. § 19-2515(9)(h). Not only was this statutory aggravating factor given to the jury (#32773, Supp. R., p.13), but the district court also gave the approved narrowing instruction regarding the aggravator, which reads as follows:

The phrase "exhibited a propensity to commit murder which will probably constitute a continuing threat to society" means conduct showing that the defendant is more likely than not to be a continuing threat to society. The state is required to prove the existence of this propensity beyond a reasonable doubt. Such finding cannot be based solely upon the fact that you found the defendant guilty of murder. In order for a person to have a propensity to commit murder, the person must be a willing,

predisposed killer, a killer who tends toward destroying the life of another, one who kills with less than the normal amount of provocation. Propensity requires a proclivity, a susceptibility, and even an affinity toward committing the act of murder.

(Id., p.17.)

This language was derived from this Court narrowing the class of people eligible for the death penalty in State v. Creech, 105 Idaho 362, 380-81, 670 P.2d 463 (1983), as follows:

We would construe "propensity" to exclude, for example, a person who has no inclination to kill but in an episode of rage, such as during an emotional family or lover's quarrel, commits the offense of murder. We would doubt that most of those convicted of murder would again commit murder, and rather we construe the "propensity" language to specify that person who is a willing, predisposed killer, a killer who tends toward destroying the life of another, one who kills with less than the normal amount of provocation. We would hold that propensity assumes a proclivity, susceptibility, and even an affinity toward committing the act of murder.

In <u>State v. Pizzuto</u>, 119 Idaho 742, 711, 810 P.2d 680 (1991), this Court recognized similar language was upheld by the United States Supreme Court in <u>Gregg v. Georgia</u>, 428 U.S. 153 (1976), and concluded there was "no reason to reconsider our opinions." Moreover, the United States District Court of Idaho has reasoned the narrowing language from <u>Creech</u> "is sufficiently narrow to channel the sentencer's discretion to focus on the future dangerousness of the offender based on objective facts." <u>Creech v. Hardison</u>, 2010 WL 1338126, *21 (D. Idaho 2010).

Because this Court provided the narrowing language for Instruction 11, which is a pattern jury instruction in Idaho (ICJI #1715) and instructions approved by the Idaho Supreme Court are "presumptively correct," McKay v. State, 148 Idaho 567, 571 n.2, 225 P.3d 700 (2010), and because the instruction has been approved by a federal district

court, not only has Dunlap failed to establish the SAPD ignored an issue that should have been raised on appeal because it was a "dead bang winner" that was "obvious from the trial record," Cook, 45 F.3d at 395, this claim was a "dead bang loser" with no possibility of success on appeal before this Court. Merely because Dunlap now wishes to "preserve" the claim for review before some other court, does not mean the SAPD's performance was deficient. Indeed, "[a] criminal defendant does not have the right to have this Court review an opinion of the Court of Appeals," Pierce v. State, 142 Idaho 32, 34, 121 P.3d 963 (2005), let alone the right to preserve an issue for some other unknown court.

Interestingly, when <u>Sivak v. Hardison</u>, 2008 WL 782877, *25 (D. Idaho 2008), was appealed to the Ninth Circuit, the issue of whether the limiting language of the propensity aggravator is unconstitutionally vague was not raised on appeal even though Sivak was represented by the same attorneys representing Dunlap in the instant case. *See* <u>Sivak v. Hardison</u>, 658 F.3d 898 (9th Cir. 2011). Presumably, Dunlap's current attorneys made a tactical decision in <u>Sivak</u> to winnow out the claim on appeal because it had virtually no possibility of success. The SAPD should be afforded that same discretion, particularly since Dunlap is parsing a single clause from the instruction and failing to recognize the instruction must be read as a whole. *See* <u>Johnson</u>, 509 U.S. at 367 ("In evaluating the instructions, we do not engage in a technical parsing of this language of the instructions, but instead approach the instructions in the same way that the jury would - with a commonsense understanding of the instructions in the light of all that has taken place at the trial."); <u>State v. Aragon</u>, 107 Idaho 358, 363, 690 P.2d 293 (1984) ("Jury instructions must be read in their entirety, as a whole, not in their isolated parts.").

Moreover, even if the instruction was erroneous, there was no prejudice because the jury found two other statutory aggravating factors and weighed the collective mitigation against the statutory aggravating factors individually. (R., #32773, pp.686-88.) Therefore, this Court would not need to address Instruction 11, and even if it was addressed, the death penalty would have been affirmed. *See* State v. Wood, 132 Idaho 88, 105-06, 967 P.2d 702 (1998); Hoffman v. Arave, 236 F.3d 523, 541-42 (9th Cir. 2001) (declining to address the constitutionality of the "heinous, atrocious and cruel" aggravating factor because, under I.C. §19-2515, the trial court correctly weighed the collective mitigation against another statutory aggravating factor).

Dunlap has failed to overcome the presumption that failing to raise this issue on appeal was strategic or otherwise establish deficient performance or prejudice.

5. Failing To Appeal Instruction 14 And The Verdict Form

Dunlap contends the SAPD was ineffective on appeal by failing to raise another claim regarding Instruction 14 and the verdict form, asserting they "improperly instructed the jury on the sentencing law, I.C. § 19-2515, that applied at the time of the reresentencing proceeding, rather than the law that applied at the time of the crime and entry of [his] guilty plea," which allegedly "violated the Ex Post Facto and Due Process Clauses of the state and federal constitutions." (Brief, p.49.) This claim fails because

⁷ The state recognizes this Court subsequently determined the jury was not properly instructed regarding the specific intent aggravator. <u>Dunlap V</u>, 313 P.3d at 20-21. However, the SAPD had no way of knowing when winnowing out claims that this Court would find instructional error regarding the specific intent aggravator. Therefore, the SAPD's performance was not deficient. Irrespective, because there are still two statutory aggravators, any alleged error was harmless. <u>Id.</u> at 21. Moreover, there was no prejudice because Dunlap has failed to establish the results of his direct appeal with respect to this issue would have changed since it fails on its merits.

Dunlap has failed to overcome the presumption that the SAPD appropriately winnowed out this claim because it fails on the merits.

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